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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MARYLAND
GREENBELT DIVISION

SAQIB ALI
Montgomery County, Maryland

Plaintiff,
V.

LAWRENCE HOGAN, in his official capacity
as Governor of Maryland,

100 State Circle

Annapolis, MD 21401

BRIAN FROSH, in his official capacity as
Attorney General of Maryland,

200 St. Paul Place

Baltimore, MD 21202

Defendants.

Plaintiff Syed Saqib Ali files this First Amended Complaint against Defendants Governor
Lawrence Hogan and Attorney General Brian Frosh. The First Amended Complaint alleges violations

of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution pursuant to 42 US.C. §

1983.

Case No. 1:19-cv-00078-CCB
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT

JURY DEMAND

INTRODUCTION

1. The First Amendment protects the rights of all speakers to advocate for all viewpoints
on issues of public concern. “If there is any fixed star in our constitutional constellation, it is that no
official, high or petty, can prescribe what shall be orthodox in politics, nationalism, religion, or other

matters of opinion or force citizens to confess by word or act their faith therein.” West Virginia State

Bd. of Educ. v. Barnette, 319 U.S. 624, 642 (1943).
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2. The conflict between Israel and Palestine is a longstanding issue of considerable public
concern, both in the United States and internationally, to which politicians, professionals, and the press
dedicate considerable energy and resources.

3. In 2017, the Governor of Maryland chose to categorically take Israel’s side in this
international conflict by issuing Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 (Exhibit A). This Executive Order
bars all Maryland executive agencies from executing contracts with bidders who boycott Israel.

4. Ali is a computer software engineer who wishes to submit bids for government
software project contracts but is barred from doing so due to the presence of mandatory “No Boycott
of Israel” clauses. Ali engages in and supports boycotts of Israeli businesses and organizations that
contribute to the oppression of Palestinians.

5. Maryland’s ban on contracting with anyone who boycotts Israel constitutes viewpoint
discrimination that chills constitutionally-protected political advocacy in support of Palestine. This
Court should invalidate Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and enjoin enforcement of mandatory “No
Boycott of Israel” clauses in Maryland bids and contracts, pursuant to the First Amendment.

PARTIES

6. Plaintiff Syed Saqib Ali is a U.S. citizen and a software engineer who earned both a
bachelor’s and a master’s degree in Computer Science from the University of Maryland. Over the last
20 years, Ali has worked for private companies in the web development, telecommunications, defense
contracting, and video game industries. Ali was elected to and served as a member of the Maryland
House of Delegates from 2007 to 2011. Ali lives in North Potomac, Maryland and works in Rockville,
Maryland.

7. Defendant Lawrence Hogan is the Governor of Maryland, with state offices located

at 100 State Circle, Annapolis, MD 21401. Defendant Hogan is sued in his official capacity, only.
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8. Defendant Brian Frosh is the Attorney General of Maryland. The Attorney General’s
principal office is located at 200 St. Paul Place, Baltimore, MD 21202. The Attorney General is the
chief legal officer of the State of Maryland, with responsibility for supervising and directing the legal
business of the State of Maryland and its executive agencies. The Attorney General is also responsible
for enforcing and defending the constitutionality of Maryland law. The Attorney General is sued in
his official capacity, only.

JURISDICTION & VENUE

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this action
arises under federal law, namely the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution, and
42 US.C. § 1983.

10. Declaratory relief is authorized by 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202.

11. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants because they reside in this
District.

12. A substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims alleged in this
Complaint occurred in this District. Venue therefore lies in the United States District Court for the
District of Maryland pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2).

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The Israel — Palestine Conflict is a Fraught Issue of International Importance

13. The relationship between Israel and Palestine is a significant international political
conflict. One of the core disputes within that conflict concerns Israel’s continuing occupation and
settlement of Palestinian territories, including the West Bank and Golan Heights.

14. On December 23, 2016, the United Nations Security Council unanimously (with the
United States abstaining) adopted Resolution 2334. The Resolution condemned Israeli settlements in

the Occupied Palestinian Territories, and reaffirmed that continuing settlements “constitutefe] a
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flagrant violation under international law and a major obstacle to the achievement of the two-State
solution and a just, lasting and comprehensive peace.” The Resolution additionally condemned Israeli
violence and human rights abuses against Palestinians.

15. A robust international movement seeks to impose economic pressure on Israel to
cease its settlement activity in Palestinian Territory. Calling itself “Boycott, Divestment, and
Sanctions” or “BDS,” the movement seeks the peaceful end of Israeli discrimination against and
maltreatment of Palestinians. The BDS movement specifically encourages economic divestment from
institutions that are not in compliance with established international law related to the Israeli
occupation of Palestine.

16. The United States has historically discouraged Israeli settlements as “inconsistent with
international law.” Overall, however, U.S. policy strongly supports Israel, and the U.S. and Israel enjoy
close political and economic relationships. These friendly relations have tended to soften or mute the
United States’ criticism of Israeli settlements. The United States abstained from Resolution 2334 due
to its political support of Israel, and previously vetoed a similar U.N. Resolution in February 2011.

17. The merits of all perspectives in the Israel-Palestinian conflict and the U.S.s respective
political positions are robustly and publicly debated by leading politicians, academics, universities, non-
profit organizations, businesses, and media organizations in the United States and around the world.

Maryland Governor Issues an Anti-Boycott, Divestment, and Sanctions Executive Order

18. Because the prevailing political sentiment in the United States favors Israel, many U.S.
states, private organizations, and public officials view the Palestinian-led Boycott, Divestment, and
Sanctions movement as a threat to U.S.-Israel economic relations and Israel’s sovereignty. For example,
on January 4, 2019, the United States Senate introduced S.B. 1: “The Combating BDS Act of 2019.”

19. This political climate has, in recent years, prompted local and state legislatures to

consider more than a hundred bills and resolutions aimed at hindering the Boycott, Divestment, and
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Sanctions movement. At least twenty-five states have implemented “anti-BDS” requirements, either
through legislation or executive orders.

20. Maryland is one state to have crafted measures opposed to the Boycott, Divestment,
and Sanctions movement.

21. Between 2014 and 2017, the Maryland legislature proposed but failed to pass several
anti-BDS bills. As a result, Maryland Governor Hogan issued Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 on
October 23, 2017. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 requires entities who submit bids for government
contracts, or who enter into government contracts, to certify that they do not and will not boycott
Israel.

22. Governor Hogan, in signing Executive Order 01.01.2017.25, declared that “The
shameful BDS movement seeks to undercut those rights and freedoms, using economic discrimination
and fear, by boycotting Israeli companies and prohibiting them from doing business in the United
States.” In a press release, the Governor’s Office said that “The executive order further strengthens
Maryland’s opposition to the Boycott, Divestment, and Sanctions (BDS) movement, a discriminatory
campaign designed to undermine global trade with Israel.”

23. Maryland law now prohibits all executive agencies from receiving bids from or
contracting with any entity that boycotts Israel.

24, Specifically, Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(B) provides:

Executive agencies may not execute a procurement contract with a business entity
unless it certifies, in writing when the bid is submitted or the contract is renewed, that:

1. itis not engaging in a boycott of Israel; and

' Governor Larry Hogan Signs Execntive Order Strengthening Maryland’s Opposition to BDS Movement
Against Israel, Office of Governor Larry Hogan (October 23, 2017), available at
https://governor.maryland.gov/2017/10/23 /governor-larry-hogan-signs-executive-order-
strengthening-marylands-opposition-to-bds-movement-against-israel/.
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2. itwill, for the duration of its contractual obligations, refrain from a boycott
of Israel.

25. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 defines “Boycott of Israel” to include “the termination
of or refusal to transact business activities, or other actions intended to limit commercial relations,
with a person or entity because of its Israeli national origin, or residence or incorporation in Israel
and its territories.” Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(A)(1).

26. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 defines “business entity” to include “any receiver,
trustee, guardian, representative, fiduciary, partnership, firm, association, corporation, sole
proprietorship, or company, including any bank, credit union, broker, developer, consultant,
contractor, supplier, or vendor, individually or in any combination, that has submitted a bid or
proposal for, has been selected to engage in, or is engaged in providing goods or services to the State.
Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(A) (2).

27. The Governor has since claimed—through counsel at oral argument in this case—that
Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(B) “prohibits only national-origin discrimination against Israelis in the
formation of a bid for a state contract, leaving Mr. Ali and other potential state contractors free to
boycott Israel and Israeli companies outside the bid formation process.” Memorandum Opinion, Dkt.
20, at 1. But the Government’s interpretation of its own authority is not decisive.

28. The Government may also modify its own regulation at any time. See Perez v. Mortg.
Banfkers Ass'n, 135 S. Ct. 1199, 1207 (2015); see also Para v. 1691 Ltd. P'ship, 211 Md. App. 335, 389, 65
A.3d 221, 253 (2013) (adopting Auer deference). To that end, Ali cannot rely on judicial estoppel. New
Hampshire v. Maine, 532 U.S. 742, 755 (2001).

29. In any event, the Government’s interpretation is wrong Executive Order
01.01.2017.25(B) is forward-looking, prohibiting both a “boycott of Israel” (including occupied
territories) and boycotting of Israel in the future “for the duration of” the contract. And the definition

of “boycott of Israel” is not, in any way, limited to conduct related to the bid or contract itself.

6



Case 1:19-cv-00078-CCB Document 22 Filed 10/29/19 Page 7 of 24

Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(A)(1). Because the Governor’s purported interpretation of Executive
Order 01.01.2017.25 is inconsistent with its text, it is invalid. Hranicka v. Chesapeake Surgical, 11d., 443
Md. 289, 298, 116 A.3d 507, 512 (2015); see also Memorandum Opinion (Dkt. 20) at 2 (“Mr. Ali rightly
notes that a potential contractor reading Section B of the Order would be led to believe the Order’s
prohibitions were more expansive”).

30. Under the Governments implausible interpretation of Executive Order
01.01.2017.25(B), not only would Sections (B) and (C) be inconsistent with each other, but the
definition of “Boycott of Israel” would be nugatory or, at best, superfluous. This separately renders
the Governot’s new purported interpretation incorrect. Bd. of Liguor License Commissioners for Baltimore
City v. Kongl, 451 Md. 507, 521, 154 A.3d 640, 649 (2017).

31. The consequences of Ali attempting to bid but then later finding out that the
Governor’s interpretation propounded in this action has been changed, or found invalid, would be
substantial. Any amount of time, money, or effort Mr. Ali put into bidding on a contract would be
lost. The costs to Ali in preparing a bid in time, money, and effort would be substantial.

32. Worse, if Ali were to win a contract, he may lose the contract after investing resources
into performance. He may also be subject to damages, disbarment, and even imprisonment. Md.
Code, State Fin. & Proc. § 16-203(a)(12); Md. Code Ann., Crim. Law § 9-101(a)(4). This would chill
Ali from entering into any future bids. See Memorandum Opinion (Dkt. 20) at 2 (“Mr. Ali rightly notes
that a potential contractor reading Section B of the Order would be led to believe the Order’s
prohibitions were more expansive”).

33. To comply with Executive Order 01.01.2017.25’s mandate, executive agencies and
public entities promulgating government contracts and requests for bid proposals have started

including mandatory “No Boycott of Israel” language in their boilerplate terms.



Case 1:19-cv-00078-CCB Document 22 Filed 10/29/19 Page 8 of 24

34. As required by Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(C), Maryland executive agencies’
solicitation and invitation for bids documents now contain this paragraph, “Prohibiting
Discriminatory Boycotts of Israel.”

In prepating its bid/proposal on this project, the Bidder/Offeror has considered all

bid/proposals submitted from qualified, potential subcontractors and suppliers, and

has not, in the solicitation, selection, or commercial treatment of any subcontractor,

vendor, or supplier, refused to transact or terminated business activities, or taken other

actions intended to limit commercial relations, with a person or entity on the basis of

Israeli national origin, or residence or incorporation in Israel and its territories. The

Bidder/Offeror also has not retaliated against any person or other entity for reporting

such refusal, termination, or commercially limiting actions. Without limiting any other

provision of the solicitation for bid/proposals for this project, it is understood and

agreed that, if this certification is false, such false certification will constitute grounds

for the State to reject the bid/proposal submitted by the Bidder/Offeror on this

project, and terminate any contract awarded based on the bid/proposal.

35. This language is confusing. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(C) prohibits the “refus|al]
to transact” or the “terminatfion of] business activities” done “in the solicitation, selection, or
commercial treatment of any subcontractor, vendor, or supplier.” It also prohibits an individual from
“tak[ing] other actions intended to limit commercial relations, with a person or entity on the basis of
Israeli national origin, or residence or incorporation in Israel and its territories.” But it is unclear
whether this provision is limited by the condition that the “other actions” be performed “in the
solicitation, selection, or commercial treatment of any subcontractor, vendor, or supplier.”

306. The confusion caused by this language is, at minimum, exacerbated because Executive
Order 01.01.2017.25(B) is not included in current government contract requests for bids. See
Memorandum Opinion (Dkt. 20) at 5. The Government asserted in this case that it does not include
a certification under Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(B) because that certification should be read in
harmony with the one required by Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(C). See Memorandum Opinion
(Dkt. 20) at 6.

37. An interpretation requiring reading the certification required by Executive Order

01.01.2017.25(C) as covering what is prohibited by Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(B) would require
8
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an expansive interpretation of Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(C). Such an interpretation would not
limit “tak[ing] other actions intended to limit commercial relations, with a person or entity on the basis
of Israeli national origin, or residence or incorporation in Israel and its territories” to be limited to
those actions performed “in the solicitation, selection, or commercial treatment of any subcontractor,
vendor, or supplier.”’

38. Although Ali only boycotts Israel in his personal capacity, signing this certification
would be intimidating. If the “other actions” clause is not limited by the “in the solicitation, selection,
or commercial treatment of any subcontractor, vendor, or supplier” clause, Ali would not only lose
the bid but also be subject to a host of penalties, including but not limited to debarment, see Md. Code,
State Fin. & Proc. § 16-203(a)(12); see also Attorney General’s Motion to Dismiss (Dkt. 10) at 5, but
also criminal penalties, including possibly prison. Md. Code Ann., Crim. Law § 9-101(a)(4).

39. As a result of Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(C), an individual of ordinary firmness
would likely cease boycotting Israel. Even if he or she would not cease boycotting Israel entirely, he
or she may cease personal and public support for such a boycott.

40. Indeed, the very purpose of Executive Order 01.01.2017.25, as evidenced from both
the WHEREAS clauses and the Governor’s public statement made in enacting Executive Order
01.01.2017.25. As the Governor then asserted, “there is no place in our state for boycotts and threats
which seek to undermine sincere dialogue, compromise, and cooperation.” See n.1, above.

41. Although Ali has not ceased boycotting Israel, he “need not show she ceased those
activities altogether to demonstrate an injury in fact. Benham v. City of Charlotte, N.C., 635 F.3d 129, 135
(4th Cir. 2011) (citation omitted) (cleaned up). “Government action will be sufficiently chilling when
it is ‘likely to deter a person of ordinary firmness from the exercise of First Amendment rights.”” Id.
(brackets omitted) (quoting Constantine v. Rectors & Visitors of George Mason Univ., 411 F.3d 474, 500

(4th Cir. 2005).
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Experienced Computer Scientist and Former Maryland State Representative Barred From
Bidding On Web Development Contracts

42. Ali is a US. citizen and computer software engineer residing in North Potomac,
Maryland. Ali earned both a bachelor’s and a master’s degree in Computer Science from the University
of Maryland.

43. Over the last 20 years, Ali has worked for private companies in the web development,
telecommunications, defense contracting, and video game industries.

44, Ali has extensive software engineering experience in the private sector, including
experience designing, developing, testing, deploying and maintaining complex software systems for

government contracts for the US Department of Defense.

45. Ali was elected to and served as a member of the Maryland House of Delegates from
2007 to 2011.
46. As a child, Ali’s parents educated him on the suffering of the Palestinian population

under Israeli occupation. As he watched television coverage of violence perpetuated by Israeli soldiers
against Palestinian teens, Ali resolved to support Palestinians’ human rights.

47. As an adult, Ali has dedicated himself to education and advocacy regarding the plight
of the Palestinian people. Ali works to enlist as many members of the public as possible in joining
him in non-violent opposition to Israel’s maltreatment of Palestinians.

48. Personally, Ali refuses to purchase Sabra hummus or SodaStream products, which have
ties to Israel and its occupation of Palestine. He also advocates for others to join the BDS movement,
and monitors current events in order to identify and promote specific BDS actions.

49, To that end, Ali has led public demonstrations, written op-eds, lobbied elected officials,
testified regarding the effects of proposed legislation, and actively engaged in Palestine-related

dialogue on social media.

10
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50. In 2014, Ali organized “Freedom2Boycott in Maryland,” a coalition of statewide
grassroots activists opposed to Maryland’s legislative proposals targeting the BDS movement. The
Freedom2Boycott efforts mobilized support against, and ultimately helped defeat, Maryland’s anti-
BDS legislative proposals.

51. Following Governor Hogan’s implementation of Executive Order 01.01.2017.25, Ali
has tracked the proliferation of “No Boycott of Israel” clauses in Maryland bid solicitations and
contracts.

52. As an experienced software engineer, Ali also tracks Maryland bid solicitations for
software and web development services. Ali is experienced and qualified to perform the requested
software services. Ali is interested in and intends to submit bids for state contracts for which he is
qualified.

53. For example, Maryland recently requested bids on two projects for which Ali is
generally qualified. The first, Bid Solicitation # MDD8031042042 from the Maryland Office of the
Chief Actuary, requests the creation of software to evaluate life insurance policies. The second, Bid
Solicitation # MDD2631042358 from the Maryland Department of Aging, requests support for a
software program related to administering Maryland’s Medicaid services. Ali possesses the necessary
skills to create or support both of these software services.

54, Nevertheless, Ali is barred from even submitting a bid on these, or any other software
engineering project, due to the bids’ inclusion of “No Boycott of Israel” certifications required by
Executive Order 01.01.2017.25.

55. Because the extent of the condition that “in the solicitation, selection, or commetcial
treatment of any subcontractor, vendor, or supplier” is unclear, that Ali cannot certify in good faith

that he has not “taken other actions intended to limit commercial relations, with a person or entity on

11
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the basis of Israeli national origin, or residence or incorporation in Israel and its territories.” Al is
thus barred from even submitting bids for any state contracts.

50. Ali separately cannot sign the oath because it requires Ali to support a political position
he opposes. Such oaths are unconstitutional. The Supreme Court has “made clear that neither federal
nor state government may condition employment on taking oaths that impinge on rights guaranteed
by the First and Fourteenth Amendments respectively, as for example those relating to political
beliefs.” Cole v. Richardson, 405 U.S. 676, 680 (1972) (stringcite omitted).

57. Since this litigation was originally filed, there have been four additional bid proposals
that Ali is interested in and, absent the No Boycott of Israel provision, would have liked to submit
bids for: MDD8031043471 (request by the Maryland Insurance Administration for life insurance
valuation software); BPM01842 (request by the Maryland Port Administration for programming
support services); BPM14882 (request by the Office of Technology for Human Services for WebEx
conferencing services); and BPM 015356 (requests by the Department of Juvenile Services for
collaborative communication software).

58. Each of these four new requests for proposal are covered by Executive Order
01.01.2017.25 and each require the “No Boycott of Israel” certification. Thus, for the same reason
Ali was prevented from submitting a bid for MDD8031042042 and for MDD2631042358, Ali was
prevented from submitting a bid for these four requests for proposal as well.

59. Ali seeks the right to submit bids for contracts with Maryland agencies, without
certifying that he does not boycott Israel. In order to remove the certification requirement, Ali seeks
to invalidate Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 as inconsistent with the First Amendment.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

VIOLATION OF THE FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S.
CONSTITUTION (42 U.S.C. § 1983) (Freedom of Speech and Assembly)

60. Plaintiff incorporates all of the above paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

12
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61. The First Amendment provides: “Congress shall make no law ... abridging the
freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition
the Government for a redress of grievances.” U.S. CONST. Amend. L.

62. The First Amendment binds the State of Maryland pursuant to the incorporation
doctrine of the Fourteenth Amendment.

63. Political speech on issues of great national and international importance is central to
the purposes of the First Amendment. Speech and advocacy related to the Israel — Palestine conflict
is core political speech on a matter of public concern entitled to the highest levels of constitutional
protection.

64. Economic boycotts for the purposes of bringing about political change are entrenched
in American history, beginning with colonial boycotts on British tea. Later, the Civil Rights Movement
relied heavily on boycotts to combat racism and spur societal change. The Supreme Court has
recognized that non-violent boycotts intended to advance civil rights constitute “form|s] of speech or
conduct that [are] ordinarily entitled to protection under the First and Fourteenth Amendments.”
NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware Co., 458 U.S. 886 (1982).

65. The First Amendment protects the rights of speakers to call for and participate in
economic boycotts as a means of amplifying their message. Joining voices together to participate in
and call for political boycotts is protected association under the First Amendment.

66. Plaintiff has standing to challenge the inclusion of the discriminatory and
unconstitutional “No Boycott of Israel” terms in bid solicitations and contracts, which prevents him
from even submitting bids to provide software engineering services to the state. See, e.g., Northeastern
Florida Chapter of the Assoc. Genl Contractors of Amer. v. City of Jacksonville, 508 U.S. 656, 666 (1993).

67. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”

certifications in Maryland bids and contracts each constitute viewpoint discrimination, because they

13
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only bar speech and expression against Israel, and not speech or expression in favor of Israel or against
Palestine.

68. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts each constitute content-specific restrictions on speech,
because they single out boycotts of Israel for disfavored treatment.

69. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts each constitute speaker-specific restrictions on speech,
because they single out government contractors who advocate for Palestine and against Israel as
specific speakers who warrant disfavored treatment.

70. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts each constitute impermissible State attempts to impose
conditions on an independent contractor on a basis that infringes constitutionally protected freedom
of speech.

71. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts constitute impermissible State attempts to impose an
ideological litmus test or compel speech related to government contractors’ political beliefs,
associations, and expressions.

72. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts each impose a prior restraint on speech, by requiring
speakers to certify in advance that they do not and will not engage in a boycott of Israel.

73. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated ‘“No Boycott of Israel”

certifications in Maryland bids and contracts are each substantially overbroad.

14
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74. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts are each void for vagueness. As this Court has already
noted, “given the opaque language and structure of the Otrder, the parties’ various interpretation of
its meaning, and the Governor’s express disavowal of its applicability to Mr. Ali’s boycott of Israel as
it is described in the complaint, the court is hesitant to reach the Order’s constitutionality before there
precipitates a more distilled dispute.” Memorandum Opinion (Dkt. 20) at 2. As the Supreme Court
has held, “[w]here a statute’s literal scope, unaided by a narrowing state court interpretation, is capable
of reaching expression sheltered by the First Amendment, the doctrine demands a greater degree of
specificity than in other contexts.” Swith v. Goguen, 415 U.S. 566, 573 (1974).

75. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts operate to chill the exercise of constitutionally protected
speech and associations.

76. The Maryland Governor and Maryland Attorney General each lack a compelling or
legitimate governmental interest in the enforcement of Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the
mandated “No Boycott of Israel” certifications in Maryland bids and contracts.

77. Maryland contracts for software engineering services bear no relationship, rational or
otherwise, with the contractors’ advocacy for or participations in boycotts of Israel.

78. Enforcement of Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of
Israel” certifications in Maryland bids and contracts does not constitute the least-restrictive means of
fulfilling any state interest.

79. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts are facially unconstitutional under the First Amendment

and cannot be enforced against anyone by the Maryland Attorney General.

15



Case 1:19-cv-00078-CCB Document 22 Filed 10/29/19 Page 16 of 24

80. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts, as implemented by Maryland executive agencies at the
direction of the Governor, is unconstitutional as applied to Plaintiff and his software engineering
services.

81. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts, as implemented by Maryland executive agencies at the
direction of the Governor, deters people of ordinary firmness from the exercise of First Amendment
rights.

82. Absent an injunction, Plaintiff will suffer irreparable harm because he will be barred
by state law and contract from engaging in protected First Amendment speech and association on a
matter of public concern. Plaintiff will be chilled in his personal capacity to advocate for Palestinian
rights and submit bids and contract with the state on equal terms to those who do not boycott Israel.

83. If Defendants are not enjoined from enforcing Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and
from including the “No Boycott of Israel” clause in state contracts, Plaintiff and all advocates for
Palestine will be effectively prohibited from entering into any agreement with the State of Maryland

unless they give up their constitutionally-protected views.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATION OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S
CONSTITUTION (42 U.S.C. § 1983) (Due Process)

84. Plaintiff incorporates all of the above paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

85. Under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, the
Government may not “deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.”
U.S. CONST. Amend. L.

86. As the Supreme Court has explained, “[a] statute which upon its face, and as

authoritatively construed, is so vague and indefinite as to permit the punishment of the fair use of
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this opportunity is repugnant to the guaranty of liberty contained in the Fourteenth Amendment.”
Cramp v. Bd. of Pub. Instruction of Orange Cty., Fla., 368 U.S. 278, 288 (1961).

87. The Supreme Court has further explained the same prohibition of vagueness applies
to oaths. “[A]n oath may not be so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at
its meaning and differ as to its application, (because such an oath) violates the first essential of due
process of law.”” Cole, 405 U.S. at 680-81. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No
Boycott of Israel” certifications in Maryland bids and contracts are each void for vagueness.

88. The vagueness doctrine applies to language “which either forbids or requires the doing
of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning
and differ as to its application violates the first essential of due process of law.” Connally v. Gen. Constr.
Co.,269 U.S. 385, 391 (1926). Here, the Court “given the opaque language and structure of the Ozrder,
the parties’ various interpretation of its meaning, and the Governor’s express disavowal of its
applicability to Mr. Ali’s boycott of Israel as it is described in the complaint, the court is hesitant to
reach the Order’s constitutionality before there precipitates a more distilled dispute.”” Memorandum
Opinion (Dkt. 20) at 2.

89. Absent an injunction, Plaintiff will suffer irreparable harm because he will be
prevented by the certification requirement in the Executive Order from applying for any government
contracts. Plaintiff will be chilled in his personal capacity to advocate for Palestinian rights and submit
bids and contract with the state on equal terms to those who do not boycott Israel.

90. If Defendants are not enjoined from enforcing Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and
from including the “No Boycott of Israel” clause in state contracts, Plaintiff and all advocates for
Palestine will be effectively prohibited, on the basis of a vague certification requirement, from entering
into any agreement with the State of Maryland unless they give up their constitutionally-protected

views.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court enter the following relief:

A.

B.

Declare Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 unconstitutional and unenforceable;

Issue judgment in Plaintiff’s favor and against Defendants on all causes of action
alleged herein pursuant to 42 US.C. § 1983 and the First and Fourteenth Amendments
to the U.S. Constitution;

Grant Plaintiff an injunction striking the “No Boycott of Israel” certification from
any bid proposal he submits to a Maryland agency governed by Executive Order
01.01.2017.25;

Enter an injunction against Defendants’ inclusion of “No Boycott of Israel”
provisions in any state contract pursuant to Executive Order 01.01.2017.25;

Enter an injunction against Defendants’ continuing enforcement of Executive Order
01.01.2017.25;

Declare void any “No Boycott of Israel” certification pursuant to Executive Order
01.01.2017.25 that now exists in any and all contracts between Maryland public entities
and private companies or persons.

Award Plaintiff his reasonable costs and attorney’s fees pursuant to 42 US.C. § 1988;
and,

Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem to be just and proper.

JURY DEMAND

NOW COME Plaintiff, by and through his undersigned counsel, and hereby demands trial by

jury of the above-referenced causes of actions.

Dated: October 29, 2019

18
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CAIR LEGAL DEFENSE FUND
/s/ Lena F. Masri

Lena F. Masri (D. Md. # 20251)
Imasti@cair.com

Gadeir I. Abbas (D. Md. # 20257) *
gabbas(@cair.com

Justin Sadowsky (D. Md. # 21028)
jsadowsky(@cair.com

Carolyn M. Homer (D. Md. # 20409)
chomer(@cair.com

453 New Jersey Ave., SE

Washington, DC 20003

Phone: (202) 742-6420

Fax:  (202) 488-0833

* Licensed in VA, not in D.C.
Practice limited to federal matters

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

Executive Department

EXECUTIVE ORDER
01.01.2017.25

Prohibiting Discriminatory Bovcotts of Israel in State Procurement

The State of Maryland and Israel have executed a Declaration of
Cooperation that has, for more than two decades, enabled the successful
exchange of commerce, culture, technology, tourism, trade, economic
development, scholarly inquiry, and academic research;

These accomplishments have helped generate millions of dollars of
investment and substantial job creation in the State;

The cooperation between Israel and the State has produced notable
achievements in medicine, healthcare, and biotechnology that have
benefitted the State;

The collaboration between Israel and the State has produced important
enhancements to the cyber, homeland, and national security of the State;

Boycotts of people or entities because of their Israeli national origin, or
residence or incorporation in Israel and its territories, undermines the
Declaration of Cooperation;

It is the public policy of the United States, as enshrined in several
federal laws, to oppose certain boycotts of Israel;

The termination of or refusal to transact business activities with people
or entities because of their Israeli national origin, or residence or
incorporation in Israel and its territories, is not a commercial decision
made for business or economic reasons;

Business entities that employ such unsound business practices therefore
have impaired commercial viability and provide less job security to their
employees;
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WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

NOW, THEREFORE,

Such business entities pose undue risks as contracting partners and may
not provide the best possible products or services to the State;

The State has a longstanding and broad policy to refrain from
contracting with business entities that unlawfully discriminate in the
solicitation, selection, hiring, or commercial treatment of vendors,
supplies, subcontractors, or commercial customers;

Boycotts based on religion, national origin, ethnicity, or residence are
discriminatory; and

Contracting with business entities that discriminate makes the State a
passive participant in private-sector commercial discrimination;

I, LAWRENCE J. HOGAN, JR., GOVERNOR OF THE STATE OF
MARYLAND, BY VIRTUE OF THE AUTHORITY VESTED IN ME
BY THE CONSTITUTION AND LAWS OF MARYLAND, HEREBY
PROCLAIM THE FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE ORDER, EFFECTIVE
IMMEDIATELY:

A.  The following words have the meanings indicated:

1. “Boycott of Israel” means the termination of or refusal to transact
business activities, or other actions intended to limit commercial
relations, with a person or entity because of its Israeli national
origin, or residence or incorporation in Israel and its territories.
“Boycott of Israel” does not include actions taken:

i. that are not commercial in nature;

ii. for business or economic reasons;
iii. because of the specific conduct of the person or entity;
iv. against a public or governmental entity; or

v. that are forbidden by the United States pursuant to
50 U.S.C. § 4607.

2. “Business entity” means any receiver, trustee, guardian,
representative, fiduciary, partnership, firm, association,
corporation, sole proprietorship, or company, including any bank,
credit union, broker, developer, consultant, contractor, supplier, or
vendor, individually or in any combination, that has submitted a

2
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bid or proposal for, has been selected to engage in, or is engaged in
providing goods or services to the State.

3. “Commercial relations” means a business entity’s conduct of
business, and the terms and conditions by which business is
transacted, with a vendor, supplier, subcontractor, or other business
entity.

4, “Contract” means an agreement by or on behalf of the State for a
business entity to sell or lease supplies or goods, or to provide
services, to the State in return for a fee, or any other form of
compensation to be paid or provided by the State.

5. “Executive agency” means a State department, agency, authority,
board, or instrumentality that is controlled by the Governor.

6. “Services” includes construction, real-estate development,
financial management, insurance, and professional support.

B.  Executive agencies may not execute a procurement contract with a
business entity unless it certifies, in writing when the bid is submitted or
the contract is renewed, that:

1. itis not engaging in a boycott of Israel; and

2. it will, for the duration of its contractual obligations, refrain from a
boycott of Israel.

C.  All requests for bids or proposals issued for contracts with
Executive agencies shall include the text of the following certification to
be completed by the bidder: “The undersigned bidder hereby certifies
and agrees that the following information is correct: In preparing its bid
on this project, the bidder has considered all proposals submitted from
qualified, potential subcontractors and suppliers, and has not, in the
solicitation, selection, or commercial treatment of any subcontractor,
vendor, or supplier, refused to transact or terminated business activities,
or taken other actions intended to limit commercial relations, with a
person or entity on the basis of Israeli national origin, or residence or
incorporation in Israel and its territories. The bidder also has not
retaliated against any person or other entity for reporting such refusal,
termination, or commercially limiting actions. Without limiting any other
provision of the solicitation for bids for this project, it is understood and
agreed that, if this certification is false, such false certification will
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constitute grounds for the State to reject the bid submitted by the bidder
on this project, and terminate any contract awarded based on the bid.”

D. All Executive agencies shall implement this Executive Order in a
manner consistent with the important public policy favoring
advancement of women- and minority-owned businesses as set forth in
Title 14, Subtitle 3, of the State Finance & Procurement Article of the
Code of Maryland and related regulations.

E.  All Executive agencies shall implement this Executive Order in a
manner that is consistent with all applicable statutes and regulations.
Nothing in this Executive Order shall operate to contravene any State or
federal law or to affect the State’s receipt of federal funding.

F.  If any provision of this Executive Order or its application to any
person, entity, or circumstance is held invalid by any court of competent
jurisdiction, all other provisions or applications of the Executive Order
shall remain in effect to the extent possible without the invalid provision
or application. To achieve this purpose, the provisions of this Executive
Order are severable.

GIVEN Under My Hand and the Great Seal of the State of
Maryland, in the City of Annapolis, this 23rd Day of October

L)

Lawrence J. H
Governor

TTEST:

¢,

hn C. Wobensmith
Secretary of State
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF MARYLAND
GREENBELT DIVISION
SAQIB ALI Case No. 1:19-cv-00078-CCB
Montgomery County, Maryland
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
Plaintiff,
JURY DEMAND
V.
LAWRENCE HOGAN, in his official capacity
as Governor of Maryland,
100 State Circle
Annapolis, MD 21401
BRIAN FROSH, in his official capacity as
Attorney General of Maryland,
200 St. Paul Place
Baltimore, MD 21202
Defendants.
Plaintiff Syed Saqib Ali byand-through-hisundersiened-eounse - CAIRTEGALDEFENSE

HUND-(~CAIRiles this First Amended Complaint against Defendants Governor Lawrence Hogan

and Attorney General Brian Frosh-{eellectively~Defeadants™. The I'irst Amended Complaint alleges

violations of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution pursuant to 42
US.C. § 1983.
INTRODUCTION
1. The First Amendment protects the rights of all speakers to advocate for all viewpoints
on issues of public concern. “If there is any fixed star in our constitutional constellation, it is that no
official, high or petty, can prescribe what shall be orthodox in politics, nationalism, religion, or other
matters of opinion or force citizens to confess by word or act their faith therein.” Wesz 1irginia State

Bd. of Educ. v. Barnette, 319 US. 624, 642 (1943).



Case 1:19-cv-00078-CCB Document 22-1 Filed 10/29/19 Page 2 of 20

2. The conflict between Israel and Palestine is a longstanding issue of considerable public
concern, both in the United States and internationally, to which politicians, professionals, and the press
dedicate considerable energy and resources.

3. In 2017, the Governor of Maryland chose to categorically take Israel’s side in this
international conflict by issuing Executive Order 01.01.2017.25- (Exhibit A). This Executive Order
bars all Maryland executive agencies from executing contracts with bidders who boycott Israel.

4. Sagib-Ali is a computer software engineer who wishes to submit bids for government
software project contracts but is barred from doing so due to the presence of mandatory “No Boycott
of Israel” clauses. Sagib-Ali engages in and supports boycotts of Israeli businesses and organizations
that contribute to the oppression of Palestinians.

5. Maryland’s ban on contracting with anyone who boycotts Israel constitutes viewpoint
discrimination that chills constitutionally-protected political advocacy in support of Palestine. This
Court should invalidate Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 ¢£~<¢g—and enjoin enforcement of mandatory
“No Boycott of Israel” clauses in Maryland bids and contracts, pursuant to the First Amendment.

PARTIES

6. Plaintiff Syed Saqib Ali “Sagib—Adi-is a U.S. citizen and a software engineer who
earned both a bachelot’s and a master’s degree in Computer Science from the University of Maryland.
Over the last 20 years, Sagib—Ali has worked for private companies in the web development,
telecommunications, defense contracting, and video game industries. Sagib-Ali was elected to and
served as a member of the Maryland House of Delegates from 2007 —to 2011. -Sasib Al lives in
North Potomac, Maryland and works in Rockville, Maryland.

7. Defendant Lawrence Hogan is the Governor of Maryland, with state offices located

at 100 State Circle, Annapolis, MD 21401. Defendant Hogan is sued in his official capacity, only.
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8. Defendant Brian Frosh is the Attorney General of Maryland. The Attorney General’s
principal office is located at 200 St. Paul Place, Baltimore, MD 21202. The Attorney General is the
chief legal officer of the State of Maryland, with responsibility for supervising and directing the legal
business of the State of Maryland and its executive agencies. The Attorney General is also responsible
for enforcing and defending the constitutionality of Maryland law. The Attorney General is sued in
his official capacity, only.

JURISDICTION & VENUE

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this action
arises under federal law, namely the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution, and
42 US.C. § 1983.

10. Declaratory relief is authorized by 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202.

11. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants because they reside in this
District.

12. A substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims alleged in this
Complaint occurred in this District. Venue therefore lies in the United States District Court for the
District of Maryland pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2).

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The Israel — Palestine Conflict is a Fraught Issue of International Importance

13. The relationship between Israel and Palestine is a significant international political
conflict. One of the core disputes within that conflict concerns Israel’s continuing occupation and
settlement of Palestinian territories, including the West Bank and Golan Heights.

14. On December 23, 2016, the United Nations Security Council unanimously (with the
United States abstaining) adopted Resolution 2334. The Resolution condemned Israeli settlements in

the Occupied Palestinian Territories, and reaffirmed that continuing settlements “constitutefe] a
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flagrant violation under international law and a major obstacle to the achievement of the two-State
solution and a just, lasting and comprehensive peace.” The Resolution additionally condemned Israeli
violence and human rights abuses against Palestinians.

15. A robust international movement seeks to impose economic pressure on Israel to
cease its settlement activity in Palestinian Territory. Calling itself “Boycott, Divestment, and
Sanctions” or “BDS,” the movement seeks the peaceful end of Israeli discrimination against and
maltreatment of Palestinians. The BDS movement specifically encourages economic divestment from
institutions that are not in compliance with established international law related to the Israeli
occupation of Palestine.

16. The United States has historically discouraged Israeli settlements as “inconsistent with
international law.” Overall, however, U.S. policy strongly supports Israel, and the U.S. and Israel enjoy
close political and economic relationships. These friendly relations have tended to soften or mute the
United States’ criticism of Israeli settlements. The United States abstained from Resolution 2334 due
to its political support of Israel, and previously vetoed a similar U.N. Resolution in February 2011.

17. The merits of all perspectives in the Israel-Palestinian conflict and the U.S.s respective
political positions are robustly and publicly debated by leading politicians, academics, universities, non-
profit organizations, businesses, and media organizations in the United States and around the world.

Maryland Governor Issues an Anti-Boycott, Divestment, and Sanctions Executive Order

18. Because the prevailing political sentiment in the United States favors Israel, many U.S.
states, private organizations, and public officials view the Palestinian-led Boycott, Divestment, and
Sanctions movement as a threat to U.S.-Israel economic relations and Israel’s sovereignty. Justtast
wweekllor example, on January 4, 2019, the United States Senate introduced S.B. 1: “The Combating

BDS Act of 2019.”
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19. This political climate has, in recent years, prompted local and state legislatures to
consider more than a hundred bills and resolutions aimed at hindering the Boycott, Divestment, and
Sanctions movement. At least twenty-five states have implemented “anti-BDS” requirements, either
through legislation or executive orders.

20. Maryland is one state to have crafted measures opposed to the Boycott, Divestment,
and Sanctions movement.

21. Between 2014 and 2017, the Maryland legislature proposed but failed to pass several
anti-BDS bills. As a result, Maryland Governor Hogan issued Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 on
October 23, 2017. Fhe-Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 requires entities who submit bids for
government contracts, or who enter into government contracts, to certify that they do not and will
not boycott Israel.

22. Governor Hogan, in signing Executive Order 01.01.2017.25, declared that “The
shameful BDS movement seeks to undercut those rights and freedoms, using economic discrimination
and fear, by boycotting Israeli companies and prohibiting them from doing business in the United
States.” In a press release, the Governor’s Office said that “The executive order further strengthens
Maryland’s opposition to the Boycott, Divestment, and Sanctions (BDS) movement, a discriminatory
campaign designed to undermine global trade with Israel.”

23. FexasMarvland law now prohibits all executive agencies from receiving bids from or
contracting with any entity that boycotts Israel.

24, Specifically, Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(B) provides:

' Governor Larry Hogan Signs Execntive Order Strengthening Maryland’s Opposition to BDS Movement
Against Israel, Office of Governor Larry Hogan (October 23, 2017), available at
https://governor.maryland.gov/2017/10/23 /governor-larry-hogan-signs-executive-order-
strengthening-marylands-opposition-to-bds-movement-against-israel/.

5
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“Executive agencies may not execute a procurement contract with a business entity
unless it certifies, in writing when the bid is submitted or the contract is renewed, that:

1. itis not engaging in a boycott of Israel; and

2. it will, for the duration of its contractual obligations, refrain from a boycott
of Israel=.

25. Fhe—Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 defines “Boycott of Israel” to include “the
termination of or refusal to transact business activities, or other actions intended to limit commercial
relations, with a person or entity because of its Israeli national origin, or residence or incorporation in
Israel and its territories.” Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(A)(1).

26. Fhe-Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 defines “business entity” to include “any receiver,
trustee, guardian, representative, fiduciary, partnership, firm, association, corporation, sole
proprietorship, or company, including any bank, credit union, broker, developer, consultant,
contractor, supplier, or vendor, individually or in any combination, that has submitted a bid or
proposal for, has been selected to engage in, or is engaged in providing goods or services to the State.
Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(A)(2).

27. To—ecomply—with—the Exeeutive-Osrder’'sThe Governor has since claimed—through

counsel at oral argument in this case—that Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(B) “prohibits only national-

origin discrimination against Israelis in the formation of a bid for a state contract, leaving Mr. Ali and

other potential state contractors free to boycott Israel and Israeli companies outside the bid formation

process.” Memorandum Opinion, Dkt. 20, at 1. But the Government’s interpretation of its own

authority is not decisive.

28. The Government may also modify its own regulation at any time. See Perez v. Mortg.

Bankers Ass’n, 135 S. Ct. 1199, 1207 (2015); see also Para v. 1691 1td. P'ship, 211 Md. App. 335, 389, 65

A3d 221, 253 (2013) (adopting Auer deference). To that end, Ali cannot rely on judicial estoppel. New

Hampshire v. Maine, 532 U.S. 742, 755 (2001).
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29. In any event, the Government’s interpretation is wrong. FExecutive Order

01.01.2017.25(B) is forward-looking, prohibiting both a “boycott of Israel” (including occupied

territories) and boycotting of Israel in the future “for the duration of”’ the contract. And the definition

of “boycott of Israel” is not, in any way, limited to conduct related to the bid or contract itself.

Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(A)(1). Because the Governor’s purported interpretation of Fxecutive

Order 01.01.2017.25 is inconsistent with its text, it is invalid. Hranicka v. Chesapeake Surgical, 1 1d., 443

Md. 289, 298, 116 A.3d 507, 512 (2015); see also Memorandum Opinion (Dkt. 20) at 2 (“Mr. Ali rightly

notes that a potential contractor reading Section B of the Order would be led to believe the Order’s

prohibitions were more expansive”).

30. Under the Governments implausible interpretation of Fxecutive Order

01.01.2017.25(B), not only would Sections (B) and (C) be inconsistent with each other, but the

definition of “Boycott of Israel” would be nugatory or, at best, superfluous. This separately renders

the Governot’s new purported interpretation incorrect. Bd. of Liguor License Commissioners for Baltimore

City v. Kougl, 451 Md. 507, 521, 154 A.3d 640, 649 (2017).

31. The consequences of Ali attempting to bid but then later finding out that the
Governor’ interpretation propounded in this action has been changed, or found invalid, would be
substantial. Any amount of time, money, or effort Mr. Ali put into bidding on a contract would be

lost. The costs to Ali in preparing a bid in time, money, and effort would be substantial.

32. Worse, if Ali were to win a contract, he may lose the contract after investing resources

into performance. He may also be subject to damages, disbarment, and even imprisonment. Md.

Code, State Fin. & Proc. § 16-203(2)(12); Md. Code Ann., Crim. Law § 9-101(a)(4). This would chill

Ali from entering into any future bids. See Memorandum Opinion (Dkt. 20) at 2 (“Mr. Ali rightly notes

that a potential contractor reading Section B of the Order would be led to believe the Order’s

prohibitions were more expansive”).
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27:33. To comply with Fxecutive Order 01.01.2017.25’ mandate, executive agencies and

public entities promulgating government contracts and requests for bid proposals have started
including mandatory “No Boycott of Israel” language in their boilerplate terms.

28:34. PursuanttoAs required by Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(A12C), Maryland executive
agencies’ solicitation and invitation for bids documents now contain this paragraph, ‘“Prohibiting
Discriminatory Boycotts of Israel.”

In prepating its bid/proposal on this project, the Bidder/Offeror has considered all
bid/proposals submitted from qualified, potential subcontractors and suppliers, and
has not, in the solicitation, selection, or commercial treatment of any subcontractor,
vendor, or supplier, refused to transact or terminated business activities, or taken other
actions intended to limit commercial relations, with a person or entity on the basis of
Israeli national origin, or residence or incorporation in Israel and its territories. The
Bidder/Offeror also has not retaliated against any person or other entity for reporting
such refusal, termination, or commercially limiting actions. Without limiting any other
provision of the solicitation for bid/proposals for this project, it is understood and
agreed that, if this certification is false, such false certification will constitute grounds
for the State to reject the bid/proposal submitted by the Bidder/Offeror on this
project, and terminate any contract awarded based on the bid/proposal.

35. This language is confusing. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(C) prohibits the “refus|al]

to_transact” or the “terminat[ion of]| business activities” done ‘““in the solicitation, selection, or

commercial treatment of any subcontractor, vendor, or supplier.” It also prohibits an individual from

“tak[ing] other actions intended to limit commercial relations, with a person or entity on the basis of

Israeli national origin, or residence or incorporation in Israel and its territories.” But it is unclear

whether this provision is limited by the condition that the “other actions” be performed “in the

solicitation, selection, or commercial treatment of any subcontractor, vendor, or supplier.”

36. The confusion caused by this language is, at minimum, exacerbated because Fxecutive

Order 01.01.2017.25(B) is not included in current government contract requests for bids. See

Memorandum Opinion (Dkt. 20) at 5. The Government asserted in this case that it does not include

a certification under Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(B) because that certification should be read in
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harmony with the one required by FExecutive Order 01.01.2017.25(C). See Memorandum Opinion

(Dkt. 20) at 6.

37. An interpretation requiring reading the certification required by Fxecutive Order

01.01.2017.25(C) as covering what is prohibited by Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(B) would require

an expansive interpretation of Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(C). Such an interpretation would not

limit “tak[ing] other actions intended to limit commercial relations, with a person or entity on the basis

of Israeli national origin, or residence or incorporation in Israel and its territories” to be limited to

those actions performed “in the solicitation, selection, or commercial treatment of any subcontractor,

vendor, or suppliet.”

38. Although Ali only bovcotts Israel in his personal capacity, signing this certification

would be intimidating. If the “other actions” clause is not limited by the “in the solicitation, selection,

or commercial treatment of any subcontractor, vendor, or supplier” clause, Ali would not only lose

the bid but also be subject to a host of penalties, including but not limited to debarment, see Md. Code,

State Fin. & Proc. § 16-203(2)(12); see also Attornev General’s Motion to Dismiss (Dkt. 10) at 5. but

39. As a result of Executive Order 01.01.2017.25(C), an individual of ordinary firmness

would likelvy cease bovcotting Israel. Even if he or she would not cease bovcotting Israel entirely, he

or she may cease personal and public support for such a boycott.

40. Indeed, the very purpose of Executive Order 01.01.2017.25, as evidenced from both

the WHEREAS clauses and the Governor’s public statement made in enacting Fxecutive Order

01.01.2017.25. As the Governor then asserted, “there is no place in our state for boycotts and threats

which seek to undermine sincere dialogue, compromise, and cooperation.” See n.1, above.

41. Although Ali has not ceased bovcotting Israel. he “need not show she ceased those

activities altogether to demonstrate an injury in fact. Benham v. City of Charlotte, N.C.. 635 F3d 129. 135
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4th Cir. 2011) (citation omitted) (cleaned up). “Government action will be sufficiently chilling when

it is ‘likely to deter a person of ordinary firmness from the exercise of First Amendment rights.” Id.

(brackets omitted) (quoting Constantine v. Rectors & Visitors of George Mason Univ., 411 F.3d 474, 500

(4th Cir. 2005).

Experienced Computer Scientist and Former Maryland State Representative Barred From
Bidding On Web Development Contracts

29:42. Plaintitt-Saqib-Ali is a US. citizen and computer software engineer residing in North
Potomac, Maryland. -Sasib Ali earned both a bachelor’s and a master’s degree in Computer Science
from the University of Maryland.

30:43. Over the last 20 years, Sagib—Ali has worked for private companies in the web
development, telecommunications, defense contracting, and video game industries.

31444, Sagib-Ali has extensive software engineering experience in the private sector, including
experience designing, developing, testing, deploying and maintaining complex software systems for
government contracts for the US Department of Defense.

3245, Sagqib-Ali was elected to and served as a member of the Maryland House of Delegates
from 2007 —to 2011.

33:46. As a child,~Sagib Ali’s parents educated him on the suffering of the Palestinian
population under Israeli occupation. As he watched television coverage of violence perpetuated by
Israeli soldiers against Palestinian teens, Sa«ib-Ali resolved to support Palestinians’ human rights.

34:47. As an adult,-Sagib Ali has dedicated himself to education and advocacy regarding the
plight of the Palestinian people. Sa«ib-Ali works to enlist as many members of the public as possible
in joining him in non-violent opposition to Israel’s maltreatment of Palestinians.

35:48. Personally,—Sagib Ali refuses to purchase Sabra hummus or SodaStream products,
which have ties to Israel and its occupation of Palestine. He also advocates for others to join the BDS

movement, and monitors current events in order to identify and promote specific BDS actions.

10
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36:49. To that end,Sagib Ali has led public demonstrations, written op-eds, lobbied elected
officials, testified regarding the effects of proposed legislation, and actively engaged in Palestine-
related dialogue on social media.

37:50. In 2014,Sagib Ali organized “Freedom2Boycott in Maryland,” a coalition of statewide
grassroots activists opposed to Maryland’s legislative proposals targeting the BDS movement. The
Freedom2Boycott efforts mobilized support against, and ultimately helped defeat, Maryland’s anti-
BDS legislative proposals.

3&:51. Following Governor Hogan’s implementation of Executive Order 01.01.2017.25,
Saeib-Ali has tracked the proliferation of “No Boycott of Israel” clauses in Maryland bid solicitations
and contracts.

39:52. As an experienced software engineer, Sagib-Ali also tracks Maryland bid solicitations
for software and web development services. Sagib-Ali is experienced and qualified to perform the
requested software services. SagibAll is interested in and intends to submit bids for state contracts
for which he is qualified.

46:53. For example, Maryland recently requested bids on two projects for which Sagib-Ali is
generally qualified. The first, Bid Solicitation # MDID8031042042 from the Maryland Office of the
Chief Actuary, requests the creation of software to evaluate life insurance policies. The second, Bid
Solicitation # MDD2631042358 from the Maryland Department of Aging, requests support for a
software program related to administering Maryland’s Medicaid services. Sagib—Ali possesses the
necessary skills to create or support both of these software services.

41-54. Nevertheless,Sagib Ali is barred from even submitting a bid on these, or any other
software engineering project, due to the bids’ inclusion of “No Boycott of Israel” certifications

required by Executive Order 01.01.2017.25.
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42:55. SagibBecause the extent of the condition that “in the solicitation, selection, or

commercial treatment of any subcontractor, vendor, or supplier” is unclear, that Ali cannot certify in

good faith that he has not “refused-to-transact- ot terminated-businessactivities;or-taken other actions
intended to limit commercial relations, with a person or entity on the basis of Israeli national origin,
or residence or incorporation in Israel and its territories.” Sagib—Alil is thus barred from even
submitting bids for any state contracts.

50. Saegib-Ali separately cannot sign the oath because it requires Ali to support a political

position he opposes. Such oaths are unconstitutional. The Supreme Court has “made clear that

neither federal nor state government may condition employment on taking oaths that impinge on

rights guaranteed by the First and Fourteenth Amendments respectively, as for example those relating

to political beliefs.” Cole . Richardson, 405 U.S. 676, 680 (1972) (stringcite omitted).

57. Since this litigation was originally filed, there have been four additional bid proposals

that Ali is interested in and, absent the No Boycott of Israel provision, would have liked to submit

bids for: MDID8031043471 (request by the Maryland Insurance Administration for life insurance
valuation software); BPM01842 (request by the Maryland Port Administration for programming

support services); BPM14882 (request by the Office of Technology for Human Services for WebEx

conferencing services); and BPM 015356 (requests by the Department of Juvenile Services for

collaborative communication software).

58. Fach of these four new requests for proposal are covered by Executive Order

01.01.2017.25 and each require the “No Boycott of Israel” certification. Thus, for the same reason

Ali was prevented from submitting a bid for MDD8031042042 and for MDID2631042358, Ali was

prevented from submitting a bid for these four requests for proposal as well.
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43:59. Ali seeks the right to submit bids for contracts with Maryland agencies, without
certifying that he does not boycott Israel. In order to remove the certification requirement, SagibAli
seeks to invalidate Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 as inconsistent with the First Amendment.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

VIOLATION OF THE FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S.
CONSTITUTION (42 U.S.C. § 1983) (Freedom of Speech and Assembly)

44-60. Plaintiff incorporates all of the above paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

45:61. The First Amendment provides: “Congress shall make no law ... abridging the

freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition

the Government for a redress of orievances.” U.S. CONST. Amend. 1.

46-:62. The First Amendment binds the State of Maryland pursuant to the incorporation
doctrine of the Fourteenth Amendment.

47:63. Political speech on issues of great national and international importance is central to
the purposes of the First Amendment. Speech and advocacy related to the Israel — Palestine conflict
is core political speech on a matter of public concern entitled to the highest levels of constitutional
protection.

48:64. Economic boycotts for the purposes of bringing about political change are entrenched
in American history, beginning with colonial boycotts on British tea. Later, the Civil Rights Movement
relied heavily on boycotts to combat racism and spur societal change. The Supreme Court has
recognized that non-violent boycotts intended to advance civil rights constitute “form|s] of speech or
conduct that [are] ordinarily entitled to protection under the First and Fourteenth Amendments.”
NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware Co., 458 U.S. 886 (1982).

49:65. The First Amendment protects the rights of speakers to call for and participate in
economic boycotts as a means of amplifying their message. Joining voices together to participate in

and call for political boycotts is protected association under the First Amendment.
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50:66. Plaintiff has standing to challenge the inclusion of the discriminatory and
unconstitutional “No Boycott of Israel” terms in bid solicitations and contracts, which prevents him
from even submitting bids to provide software engineering services to the state. See, e.g., Northeastern
Florida Chapter of the Assoc. Genl Contractors of Amer. v. City of Jacksonville, 508 U.S. 656, 666 (1993).

5467. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts each constitute viewpoint discrimination, because they
only bar speech and expression against Israel, and not speech or expression in favor of Israel or against
Palestine.

52:68. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts each constitute content-specific restrictions on speech,
because they single out boycotts of Israel for disfavored treatment.

53:69. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts each constitute speaker-specific restrictions on speech,
because they single out government contractors who advocate for Palestine and against Israel as
specific speakers who warrant disfavored treatment.

54:70. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts each constitute impermissible State attempts to impose
conditions on an independent contractor on a basis that infringes constitutionally protected freedom
of speech.

55:71. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts constitute impermissible State attempts to impose an
ideological litmus test or compel speech related to government contractors’ political beliefs,

associations, and expressions.
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56-72. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts each impose a prior restraint on speech, by requiring
speakers to certify in advance that they do not and will not engage in a boycott of Israel.

5%73. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts are each substantially overbroad.

58.74. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”

certifications in Maryland bids and contracts are each void for vagueness._As this Court has already

noted, “given the opaque language and structure of the Order, the parties’ various interpretation of

its meaning, and the Governot’s express disavowal of its applicability to Mr. Ali’s boycott of Israel as

it is described in the complaint, the court is hesitant to reach the Order’s constitutionality before there

precipitates a more distilled dispute.” Memorandum Opinion (Dkt. 20) at 2. As the Supreme Court

has held, “[w]here a statute’s literal scope, unaided by a narrowing state court interpretation, is capable

of reaching expression sheltered by the First Amendment, the doctrine demands a greater degree of

specificity than in other contexts.” Swith v. Goguen, 415 U.S. 566, 573 (1974).

59:75. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts operate to chill the exercise of constitutionally protected
speech and associations.

60:76. _The Maryland Governor and Maryland Attorney General each lack a compelling or
legitimate governmental interest in the enforcement of Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the
mandated “No Boycott of Israel” certifications in Maryland bids and contracts.

61-77. Maryland contracts for software engineering services bear no relationship, rational or

otherwise, with the contractors’ advocacy for or participations in boycotts of Israel.
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62.78. Enforcement of Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of
Israel” certifications in Maryland bids and contracts does not constitute the least-restrictive means of
tulfilling any state interest.

63:79. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts are facially unconstitutional under the First Amendment
and cannot be enforced against anyone by the Maryland Attorney General.

64-80. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No Boycott of Israel”
certifications in Maryland bids and contracts, as implemented by Maryland executive agencies at the
direction of the Governor, is unconstitutional as applied to Plaintiff and his software engineering

services.

81. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated ‘“No Boycott of Israel”

certifications in Maryland bids and contracts, as implemented by Maryland executive agencies at the

direction of the Governor, deters people of ordinary firmness from the exercise of First Amendment

rights.

65:82. Absent an injunction, Plaintiff will suffer irreparable harm because he will be barred
by state law and contract from engaging in protected First Amendment speech and association on a
matter of public concern. Plaintiff will be chilled in his personal capacity to advocate for Palestinian
rights and submit bids and contract with the state on equal terms to those who do not boycott Israel.

66:83. If Defendants are not enjoined from enforcing Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and
from including the “No Boycott of Israel” clause in state contracts, Plaintiff and all advocates for
Palestine will be effectively prohibited from entering into any agreement with the State of Maryland

unless they give up their constitutionally-protected views.
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATION OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S
CONSTITUTION (42 U.S.C. § 1983) (Due Process)

84. Plaintiff incorporates all of the above paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

85. Under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, the

Government may not “deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.”

U.S. CONST. Amend. 1.

86. As the Supreme Court has explained, “[a] statute which upon its face, and as

authoritatively construed, is so vague and indefinite as to permit the punishment of the fair use of

this opportunity is repugnant to the guaranty of liberty contained in the Fourteenth Amendment.”

Cramp v. Bd. of Pub. Instruction of Orange Cty., Fla., 368 U.S. 278, 288 (1961).
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87. The Supreme Court has further explained the same prohibition of vagueness applies

to oaths. “[A]n oath may not be so vague that men of common intellicence must necessarily guess at

its meaning and differ as to its application, (because such an oath) violates the first essential of due

process of law”” Cole, 405 U.S. at 680—81. Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and the mandated “No

Bovcott of Israel” certifications in Marvland bids and contracts are each void for vagueness.

38. The vagueness doctrine applies to language “which either forbids or requires the doing

of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning

and differ as to its application violates the first essential of due process of law.” Connally v. Gen. Constr.

Co.,269 US. 385, 391 (1926). Here, the Court “given the opaque language and structure of the Order,

the parties’ various interpretation of its meaning, and the Governor’s express disavowal of its

applicability to Mr. Ali’s boycott of Israel as it is described in the complaint, the court is hesitant to

reach the Order’s constitutionality before there precipitates a more distilled dispute.” Memorandum

Opinion (Dkt. 20) at 2.

89. Absent an injunction, Plaintiff will suffer irreparable harm because he will be

prevented by the certification requirement in the Executive Order from applying for any government

contracts. Plaintiff will be chilled in his personal capacity to advocate for Palestinian rights and submit

bids and contract with the state on equal terms to those who do not boycott Israel.

90. If Defendants are not enjoined from enforcing Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 and

from including the “No Boycott of Israel” clause in state contracts, Plaintiff and all advocates for

Palestine will be effectively prohibited, on the basis of a vague certification requirement, from entering

into any agreement with the State of Maryland unless they give up their constitutionally-protected

views.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court enter the following relief:
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A. Declare Executive Order 01.01.2017.25 unconstitutional and unenforceable;

B. Issue judgment in Plaintiff’s favor and against Defendants on all causes of action
alleged herein pursuant to 42 US.C. § 1983 and the First and Fourteenth Amendments
to the U.S. Constitution;

C. Grant Plaintiff an injunction striking the “No Boycott of Israel” certification from
any bid proposal he submits to a Maryland agency governed by Executive Order
01.01.2017.25;

D. Enter an injunction against Defendants’ inclusion of “No Boycott of Israel”
provisions in any state contract pursuant to Executive Order 01.01.2017.25;

E. Enter an injunction against Defendants’ continuing enforcement of Executive Order
01.01.2017.25;

F. Declare void any “No Boycott of Israel” certification pursuant to Executive Order
01.01.2017.25 that now exists in any and all contracts between Maryland public entities

and private companies or persons.

G. Award Plaintiff his reasonable costs and attorney’s fees pursuant to 42 US.C. § 1988;
and,
H. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem to be just and proper.
JURY DEMAND

NOW COME Plaintiff, by and through his undersigned counsel, and hereby demands trial by

jury of the above-referenced causes of actions.

Dated: fapuary920480October 29, 2019
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CAIR LEGAL DEFENSE FUND
/s/ Lena F. Masri

Lena F. Masri (D. Md. # 20251)
Imasti@cair.com

Gadeir I. Abbas (D. Md. # 20257) *
gabbas(@cair.com

Justin Sadowsky (D. Md. # 21028)
jsadowsky(@cair.com

Carolyn M. Homer (D. Md. # 20409)
chomer(@cair.com

453 New Jersey Ave., SE

Washington, DC 20003

Phone: (202) 742-6420

Fax:  (202) 488-0833

* Licensed in VA, not in D.C.
Practice limited to federal matters

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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